# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-8-2009

# Fields v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35679

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal the district court's dismissal of Appellant Fields' petition for postconviction relief, in which he sought the benefit of a newly acknowledged rule guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment: if a convicted defendant may be sentenced to death only after one or more additional facts are found to exist, he is entitled to have a jury determine the existence of those additional facts. *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 589 (2002). Fields seeks a determination by this Court that as a matter of state law, *Ring* should have been retroactively applied to his case and the district court should have been granted his petition and a new sentencing proceeding.

### **B.** COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS & STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the time of Petitioner's trial, eligibility for death turned on the trial court making a statutorily required fact-finding. Specifically, a defendant was eligible for death only if the trial court found a statutory aggravating circumstance to exist.<sup>1</sup> In Petitioner's trial, the court complied with this. The jury was released upon returning its verdict, after which the trial court found a statutory aggravating circumstance to exist and made additional fact-findings before sentencing the Petitioner to death. On direct appeal, this Court rejected the argument that Fields' sentencing proceeding was constitutionally infirm for lack of jury determination of an aggravating circumstance, specific intent to kill during the commission of a felony. *State v. Fields*, Nos. 19185 & 19809, Brief of Appellant at 57-58 (Idaho Supreme Court, filed Jan. 27,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Also in keeping with the statutory scheme then in effect, the trial court was required to select the sentence. Whether it elected to sentence the defendant to death or a lesser penalty turned on certain additional fact-findings which the trial court was statutorily required to make. I.C. §19-2515.

1994). See State v. Fields, 127 Idaho 904, 916, 908 P.2d 1211, 1223 (1995). At a subsequent post-conviction in 1995, Fields again raised the issue of his denial of a jury determination of facts necessary for aggravating circumstances, which was denied by the district court and affirmed on appeal. *Fields v. State*, 135 Idaho 286, 17 P.3d 230 (2000).

The statutory sentencing scheme under which Petitioner was tried was enacted in its original form in 1977. Idaho Code Section 19-2515 (1977). While various amendments were made to the scheme over time, Fields was tried in all respects relevant to this appeal under the original capital statutory scheme as enacted in 1977.

Within forty-two days of the *Ring* decision, Fields sought redress by filing in the district court (1) a Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence under Idaho Criminal Rule 35, and (2) a postconviction proceeding under Idaho Code Section 19-2719, alternatively denominated a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant to Idaho Constitution. CR at 5-36. Fields explicitly raised the claim that the state courts were not bound to a federal retroactivity standard and urged that he be granted relief under state retroactivity law. CR 65-72, 174-76. The district court denied the Rule 35 motion and rejected the postconviction claims. CR at 293-304. Fields timely appealed. CR at 307. By the time *Ring* was decided in 2002, the original conviction, sentence and judgment against Fields was final.

As Fields was seeking relief in Idaho state courts, the United States Supreme Court decided that, as a matter of federal law, *Ring* was not retroactively applicable to individuals whose cases were final when *Ring* was decided. *Schriro v. Summerlin*, 542 U.S. 348 (2004).

In this Court's lead case on the matter, *Porter v. State*, 140 Idaho 780, 102 P. 3d 1099 (2004), the Court declined to retroactively apply *Ring* "under a more lenient [state] standard of

retroactivity," finding that the issue raised by Porter was "based solely upon the Federal Constitution" making "the question of retroactivity of that decision [] a matter for federal law, not state law." *Porter* at 783, 1102. *See also*, *State v. Hoffman*, 142 Idaho 27, 121 P.3d 958 (2005), and *State v. Leavitt*, 141 Idaho 895, 120 P. 3d 283 (2005).

Last year, the United States Supreme Court held that federal retroactivity doctrine, initially set out in *Teague v. Lane*, 489 U.S. 288 (1989) (plurality opinion), "limits the kinds of constitutional violations that will entitle an individual to relief on federal habeas, but does not in any way limit the authority of a state court, when reviewing its own state criminal convictions, to provide a remedy for a violation that is deemed 'nonretroactive' under *Teague*." *Danforth v. Minnesota*, 128 S.Ct. 1029, 1042 (2008).<sup>2</sup> The district court mentioned the *Danforth* decision in its opinion dismissing Fields' petition, acknowledging that States are "free to evaluate whether the new rule should be applied retroactively," CR at 297, but it did not further analyze the case under the retroactivity doctrines that it identified under state law. *See* CR at 299 (identifying three part test, *BHA Investments, Inc. v. City of Boise*, 141 Idaho 168, 108 P.3d 315 (2004)); CR at 297 (identifying "implicit in the concept of ordered liberty test" of *In re Gafford*, 127 Idaho, 472, 903 P.2d 61 (1995). Instead the district court cited what it considered to be the binding precedent of *Porter* and *Hoffman* as the basis for rejecting Fields' claims. CR at 299-300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Shortly thereafter, the United States Supreme Court remanded five other Idaho capital cases for reconsideration in light of its opinion in *Danforth v. Minnesota. Rhoades v. Idaho*, 128 S.Ct. 1441 (2008) (mem.); *McKinney v. Idaho*, 128 S.Ct. 1441 (2008) (mem.); *Pizzuto v. Idaho*, 128 S.Ct. 1441 (2008) (mem.); *Card v. Idaho*, 128 S.Ct. 1442 (2008) (mem.); *Hairston v. Idaho*, 128 S.Ct. 1442 (2008) (mem.).

#### III. ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether in light of Idaho's long history of jury participation in sentencing in capital cases, the fundamental role which the right to jury fact-finding plays in our conception of justice, and the Court's consistent use of Idaho's established test for determining which new court decisions should be given retroactive effect, *Ring* should be applied retroactively to provide Petitioner a remedy for the indisputable denial of his constitutionally guaranteed right to a jury trial on whether the facts necessary to make him eligible for a death sentence existed.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Fields is not before the Court seeking windfall relief on an issue he is litigating for the first time in light of an unanticipated favorable ruling. He previously lost the issue in one form or another on direct appeal and a successive post-conviction proceeding before this Court. This Court consistently has rejected the argument whenever (and by whomever) it was raised. After *Furman* struck down death penalty statutes across the nation in 1972, general uncertainty reigned for many years in the death penalty arena. In the midst of the confusion, Idaho courts repeatedly overruled capital defendants objections to jury-free penalty phase proceedings. Many courts read *Walton v. Arizona*, 497 U.S. 639 (1990), to hold that there is no Sixth Amendment right to jury participation in sentencing proceedings.

However, acknowledging it had erred in *Walton*, the United States Supreme Court held in 2002 that where a convicted defendant may be sentenced to death only after one or more additional facts are found to exist, he is entitled to have a jury determine the existence of those additional facts. *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 589 (2002). The statutory scheme under which

Fields was sentenced required that the State could sentence him to death only after one or more additional facts were found to exist, and the trial court conducted the required fact-finding. It is, therefore, beyond dispute that Fields' death sentence cannot withstand constitutional scrutiny. Fundamental fairness requires that this unconstitutional sentence be remedied. Withholding a remedy because the United States Supreme Court took until 2002 to acknowledge Fields' position was correct all along cannot be squared with any basic conception of justice. This Court has the authority to correct this basic injustice. *Danforth v. Minnesota*, 128 S.Ct. 1029, 1041-42 (2008) (federal non-retroactivity doctrine, intended to limit federal court authority to overturn state convictions, does not limit state court authority to grant relief for violations of new rules of constitutional law).

In addition to basic fairness requiring remedial measures, longstanding and consistently applied Idaho precedent requires the retroactive application of *Ring*. In particular, this Court determines whether a new rule announced in a court decision will be retroactively applied by balancing the first against the remaining two of three factors, *i.e.* - it balances (1) the purpose of the new rule against (2) the reliance on the prior decisions of this Court and (3) the effect of the new rule on the administration of justice. There is no cause for departure from this test. In this case, *stare decisis* controls that application of the state rule of retroactivity.

Applied here, this test overwhelmingly favors the full retroactive application of *Ring*. The purpose of *Ring* is to ensure that juries determine the existence (or non-existence) of any fact necessary to increase the upper range of a convicted first degree murder defendant's possible sentence from life to death in order to enforce the Sixth Amendment's dual purpose of ensuring jury trials to individual defendants and participation in serious criminal trials by the community,

thereby ensuring that community values are reflected in the sentence imposed. As for reliance, the State has no legitimate interest in relying on unconstitutional laws or in death sentences obtained unconstitutionally, so can have no such interest in standing by sentences already achieved through such laws. Applying *Ring* retroactively will have a substantial positive but, at most, only a minimal negative impact on the administration of justice. Consequently, under Idaho's retroactivity test, *Ring* should be applied to Mr. Fields.

# B. *RING*'S HISTORICAL CONTEXT INFORMS ANY RETROACTIVITY ANALYSIS.

Idaho's 1977 capital statutory scheme, in all relevant respects identical to the statutory scheme under which Petitioner was tried, was one of a series of necessary state court responses to changing federal Eighth Amendment jurisprudence in the 1970s. Modern capital jurisprudence was born with the United States Supreme Court striking down capital statutory schemes throughout the Nation in 1972. *Furman v. Georgia*, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). *Furman* held that states must provide capital sentencers guidance on how to determine whether to impose the death penalty. "[U]nquestionably [Idaho's] pre-1973 statute violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution under . . . *Furman*, in 1973 Idaho revised its death penalty scheme making death sentences mandatory for "[e]very person guilty of murder in the first degree[.]" Idaho Code §18-4004 (am. 1973). Three years later, the United States Supreme Court struck down a mandatory death penalty statute virtually identical to Idaho's revised statute. *Woodson v. North Carolina*, 428 U.S. 280 (1976). In an effort to align its death penalty scheme with *Woodson*, in 1977 Idaho removed from the jury its traditional role as adjudicator of who,

among capital defendants, would live and who would die. Specifically, and relevant to the question now before the Court, was the Idaho modified scheme provision that before a defendant could face a range of penalties which included death, a *court* had to find that at least one statutory aggravating circumstance existed. I.C. §19-2515 (1977).

Despite Idaho's long history of, and its constitutional reverence for, the right to a jury trial, when confronted with the question of whether the United States or Idaho Constitutions guaranteed the right to jury participation in the capital sentencing process, a narrow majority of this Court "held that there is no federal constitutional requirement of jury participation in the sentencing process and that the decision to have jury participation in the sentencing process, as contrasted with judicial discretion sentencing, is within the policy determination of the individual states." State v. Creech, 132 Idaho 1, 15, 966 P.2d 1, 15 (1998) (quoting Creech v. Arave, 105 Idaho 362, 373, 670 P.2d 463, 474 (1983)). This Court later held that "Art. 1, §7 of the Idaho Constitution does not require participation of a jury in the sentencing process in a capital case." State v. Sivak, 105 Idaho 900, 904, 674 P.2d 396, 400 (1983). In State v. Charboneau, 116 Idaho 129, 774 P.2d 299, reh'g denied (1989), a 3 to 2 majority of this Court specifically rejected, as a matter of federal law, that which the United States Supreme Court ultimately acknowledged in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 589 (2002), "that a capital sentencing statute that requires the judge to determine aggravating circumstances takes this factual element out of the jury's hands in violation of the sixth amendment." Charboneau at 148, 317.

In light of the uncertainty in death penalty law created by United States Supreme Court capital decisions in the post-*Furman* 1970s, particularly regarding issues concerning penalty phase juries, neither Idaho's statutory sentencing scheme's reserving the sentencing

responsibilities exclusively to the court nor this Court's continued rejection of attacks on it is surprising. Indeed, in 1990, the United States Supreme Court signaled state courts that excluding juries from capital sentencing proceedings was constitutionally acceptable. *Walton v. Arizona*, 497 U.S. 639 (1990) (no constitutional requirement that a jury must determine whether aggravating factors exist).

Ten year later, the United States Supreme Court overruled *Walton*, holding that "capital defendants, no less than noncapital defendants . . . are entitled to a jury determination of any fact on which the legislature conditions an increase in their maximum punishment." *Ring* at 589. In overruling *Walton*, the *Ring* holding made plain that Idaho's statutory scheme violated the Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury. *See State v. Fetterly*, 137 Idaho 729, 730, 52 P.3d 874, 875 (2002) (*Ring* "appears to invalidate the death penalty scheme in Idaho which to this time has allowed the sentencing judge to make factual findings of the aggravating factors necessary to the imposition of a death sentence").

## C. IDAHO SHOULD REMEDY THE VIOLATION OF PETITIONER'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL BY APPLYING *RING* TO A BROADER RANGE OF CASES THAN UNDER THE RETROACTIVITY DOCTRINE.

In *Danforth*, the United States Supreme Court clarified that "the source of a 'new rule' is the Constitution itself, not any judicial power to create new rules of law. Accordingly, the underlying right necessarily pre-exists [the United States Supreme Court's] articulation of the new rule." *Id.* at 1035. In *Ring*, the Court did not "create" the right to jury fact-finding of a statutory aggravating factor. Rather, it belatedly determined that that right is inherent in the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Indeed, in overruling *Walton v. Arizona*,

497 U.S. 639 (1990), the *Ring* Court acknowledged that it had come down on the wrong side of the issue over ten years earlier. *Danforth* also clarified that the federal retroactivity doctrine enunciated in *Teague v. Lane*, 489 U.S. 288 (1989) (plurality opinion), and upon which it relied in *Schriro v. Summerlin*, 542 U.S 348, 352 (2004), to reject the retroactive application of *Ring*, is a federal rule limited in its restrictive application to federal habeas proceedings. *Danforth*, 128 S.Ct. at 1038. Thus, the only question Fields presents to this Court is whether Idaho's retroactivity doctrine compels the application of *Ring* 's acknowledgment of the right to jury fact-finding in a capital case to persons whose convictions and sentences were final on June 24, 2002, the date the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Ring*.

In the postconviction proceeding below, the district court rejected Fields' efforts to enforce his right to have a jury determine whether an aggravating circumstance existed, without which death would not be within the range of sentences available to the state to impose. The district court denied relief based on this Court's decisions. In the leading case on the issue, this Court unequivocally held:

Porter asks that we apply a more lenient standard of retroactivity than that applied by the United States Supreme Court. In a capital case, jury participation in the sentencing process is not required under the Idaho Constitution. *State v. Hoffman*, 123 Idaho 638, 643, 851 P.2d 934, 939 (1993); *State v. Pizzuto*, 119 Idaho 742, 770, 810 P.2d 680, 708 (1991). The issue raised by Porter in this application for post-conviction relief is based solely upon the Federal Constitution. Therefore, *the retroactivity of that decision is a matter of federal law, not state law.* The United States Supreme Court has resolved that issue in *Summerlin*.

Porter v. State, 140 Idaho at 783, 102 P. 3d at 1102 (emphasis added). In McKinney v. State, the Court reaffirmed its Porter holding:

In *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002), the United States Supreme Court held that the Sixth Amendment's jury trial guarantee

requires that a jury, not a judge, find an aggravating circumstance necessary for the imposition of the death penalty. In Schriro v. Summerlin, 542 U.S. 348, 358, 124 S.Ct. 2519, 2526, 159 L.Ed.2d 442, 453 (2004), the Supreme Court held, " *Ring* announced a new procedural rule that does not apply retroactively to cases already final on direct review." McKinney asks us to hold that *Ring* is retroactive, thereby overruling *Summerlin*. The retroactivity of *Ring* was a matter of federal constitutional law, not state law. *We have no authority to overrule decisions of the United States Supreme Court on issues of federal constitutional law*.

McKinney v. State, 143 Idaho 590, 595, 150 P.2d 283 (2006) (emphasis added).

The United States Supreme Court specifically acknowledged the state's right to provide a

remedy to a constitutional right even where the federal courts declined.

It is thus abundantly clear that the *Teague* rule of nonretroactivity was fashioned to achieve the goals of federal habeas while minimizing federal intrusion into state criminal proceedings. It was intended to limit the authority of federal courts to overturn state convictions-not to limit a state court's authority to grant relief for violations of new rules of constitutional law when reviewing its own State's convictions.

Danforth v. Minnesota, 128 S.Ct. at 1041. This Court must acknowledge that Fields was

sentenced in violation of his constitutional right to trial by jury and that his sentence is, therefore,

constitutionally infirm. This Court ought to apply *Ring* retroactively and grant him a new

sentencing proceeding.

## D. APPLYING THIS COURT'S LONG ESTABLISHED AND CONSISTENTLY EMPLOYED PRECEDENT REQUIRING THE USE OF A THREE-FACTOR TEST TO SETTLE QUESTIONS OF RETROACTIVITY MANDATES THAT *RING* BE GIVEN FULL RETROACTIVE EFFECT.

This Court first applied the current state test in a criminal case in 1975. *State v. Whitman*, 96 Idaho 489, 531 P.2d 579 (1975). When applied here, the three factor test requires that *Ring* be given full retroactive effect.

As recently as 2006, this Court has held that where controlling precedent on questions of Idaho law exists, *stare decisis* requires that the precedent be followed "unless it has proven over time to be unjust or unwise, or unless overruling it is necessary to vindicate plain, obvious principles of law and remedy continued injustice." *Greenough v. Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co.*, 142 Idaho 589, 592, 130 P.3d 1127, 1130 (2006) (quoting *Houghland Farms, Inc. v. Johnson*, 119 Idaho 72, 77, 803 P.2d 978, 983 (1990). There is no reason to depart from this Court's longstanding and consistently applied retroactivity precedent.

# 1. State v. Whitman Established the State Retroactivity Test Applicable in this Case.

This Court first addressed the question of retroactivity in a civil case, finding that a statute relating to "a host's liability in a negligently caused accident" was unconstitutional. *Thompson v. Hagan*, 96 Idaho 19, 24, 523 P.2d 1365, 1370 (1974). In *Thompson*, this Court identified three approaches to retroactivity: the "traditional rule" under which new decisions are applied to "both past and future cases"; the "prospective rule" under which new decisions are "effective only in future actions"; and the "modified prospective rule" under which the new decisions apply prospectively "and to the parties bringing the action resulting in the new decision[] or, to the parties bringing the action and all similar pending actions." *Id.* at 25, 523 P.2d at 1371. To determine which approach to apply in a given case, this Court adopted the United States Supreme Court's rationale in *Linkletter v. Walker*, 381 U.S. 618 (1965). *Thompson, supra*. The following year, this Court applied the *Linkletter* factors in a criminal context, firmly establishing the approach to be taken in determining whether or not a decision is to be retroactively applied. Under *State v. Whitman, supra*, "The Court must weigh: (1) The

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