# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-23-2009

Fields v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35679

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The District Court Was Without Jurisdiction To Grant Field's Post-Conviction Relief
Because I.C. § 19-2719 Does Not Grant The Courts Jurisdiction To Retroactively Apply
New Rules Of Law In Cases On Collateral Review

### A. Introduction

While Fields' successive petition raises eight claims, he has challenged the district court's decision with respect to only the first claim - the right to have a jury find the statutory aggravating factors - which is based upon Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). Relying upon principles of "fundamental fairness," Fields contends he is entitled to the retroactive application of Ring. (Appellant's brief, pp.6-10.) Fields also contends he is entitled to the retroactive application of Ring based upon State v. Whitman, 96 Idaho 489, 531 P.2d 579 (1975), which applied a three-prong retroactivity test adopted by the Supreme Court in Linkletter v. Walker, 381 U.S. 618 (1965), but was abandoned by the Supreme Court in Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314 (1987) and Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288 (1989). (Appellant's brief, pp.10-24.) Fields further contends this Court should not adopt the Teague doctrine for purposes of retroactivity analysis, but continue to follow the three-prong Linkletter test. (Appellant's brief, pp.24-30.) Apparently recognizing his case is governed by I.C. § 19-2719, Fields also raises four constitutional and statutory challenges to I.C. § 19-2719(5)(c). (Appellant's brief, pp.30-37.)

Idaho Code § 19-2719 imposes a jurisdictional bar which prohibits the courts from granting relief stemming from successive capital post-conviction claims unless the claim fits the narrow exception of I.C. § 19-2719(5). Because I.C. § 19-2719 does not provide an exception for the retroactive application of new rules of constitutional law, the

district court was without jurisdiction to grant post-conviction relief and this Court is without jurisdiction to reverse the district court. Therefore, the state expressly moves this Court to dismiss Fields' appeal. Alternatively, should this Court conclude I.C. § 19-2719(5) does not prohibit the retroactive application of Ring, because of the difficulties and inconsistent results associated with the three-prong Linkletter test, this Court should adopt the Teague rule of retroactivity. Finally, even under Linkletter, Fields has failed to meet his burden under the three-prong test.

### B. Standard Of Review

The Idaho Supreme Court recently articulated the standard of review in appeals stemming from the denial of post-conviction relief in capital successive petitions. "When this Court is presented with a motion to dismiss by the State based upon the provisions of Idaho Code § 19-2719, the proper standard of review this Court should utilize is to directly address the motion, determine whether or not the requirements of section 19-2719 have been met, and rule accordingly." Hairston v. State, 144 Idaho 51, 55, 156 P.3d 552 (2007) (quoting Creech v. State, 137 Idaho 573, 575, 51 P.3d 387 (2002)), remanded on other grounds Hairston v. Idaho, --- U.S. ---, 128 S.Ct. 1442 (2008)).

# C. Because Idaho Code § 19-2719(5) Does Not Have An Exception For New Rules Of Federal Constitutional Law, Fields' Appeal Must Be Dismissed

# 1. <u>Fields' Successive Post-Conviction Petition Is Governed By I.C.</u> § 19-2719

Idaho Code § 19-2719 sets forth special appellate and post-conviction procedures in all capital cases. Capital post-conviction proceedings, like non-capital post-conviction proceedings which are governed by the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act

(UPCPA), are civil in nature and governed by the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. Pizzuto v. State, 127 Idaho 469, 470, 903 P.2d 58 (1995). Idaho Code § 19-2719 does not eliminate the applicability of the UPCPA in capital cases, but acts as a modifier and "supersedes the UPCPA to the extent that their provisions conflict." McKinney v. State, 133 Idaho 695, 700, 992 P.2d 144 (1999); Pizzuto, 127 Idaho at 470.

Specifically, I.C. § 19-2719 provides a capital defendant one opportunity to raise all challenges to the conviction and sentence in a post-conviction relief petition which must be filed within forty-two days after entry of judgment. State v. Rhoades, 120 Idaho 795, 806, 820 P.2d 665 (1991). The only exception is provided in I.C. § 19-2719(5), which permits a successive petition "in those unusual cases where it can be demonstrated that the issues raised were not known and reasonably could not have been known within the time frame allowed by the statute." Id., 120 Idaho at 807. If a capital defendant fails to comply with the specific requirements of I.C. § 19-2719, including the specified time limits, the issues are "deemed to have [been] waived" and "[t]he courts of Idaho shall have no power to consider any such claims for relief as have been so waived or grant any such relief." I.C. § 19-2719(5); McKinney, 133 Idaho at 700.

A capital defendant who brings a successive petition for post-conviction relief has a "heightened burden and must make a *prima facie* showing that issues raised in that petition fit within the narrow exception provided by the statute." <u>Pizzuto</u>, 127 Idaho at 471. Even if the petitioner can demonstrate the claims were not known or could not reasonably have been known, I.C. § 19-2719(5)(a) details the additional requirements that must be met before the successive petition may be heard:

An allegation that a successive post-conviction petition may be heard because of the applicability of the exception herein for issues that were not known or could not reasonably have been known shall not be considered unless the applicant shows the existence of such issues by (i) a precise statement of the issue or issues asserted together with (ii) material facts stated under oath or affirmation by credible persons with first hand knowledge that would support the issue or issues asserted. A pleading that fails to make a showing of excepted issues supported by material facts, or which is not credible, must be summarily dismissed.

I.C. § 19-2719(5)(a). Failure to meet the requirements of I.C. § 19-2719(5)(a) mandates dismissal of the successive post-conviction petition. Fields v. State, 135 Idaho 286, 289-90, 17 P.3d 230 (2000).

Additionally, claims which were not known or which could not have reasonably been known within forty-two days of judgment "must be asserted within a reasonable time after they are known or reasonably could have been known." Paz v. State, 123 Idaho 758, 760, 852 P.2d 1355 (1993); McKinney, 133 Idaho at 701. If the petitioner fails to comply with each of the requirements detailed in I.C. § 19-2719(5), the petition must be summarily dismissed. I.C. § 19-2719(5) specifically provides:

If the defendant fails to apply for relief as provided in this section and within the time limits specified, he shall be deemed to have waived such claims for relief as were known, or reasonably should have been known. The courts of Idaho shall have no power to consider any such claims for relief as have been so waived or grant any such relief.

(Emphasis added.)

In State v. Beam, 115 Idaho 208, 213, 766 P.2d 678 (1988), the Idaho Supreme Court discussed the purpose and policy behind the passage of I.C. § 19-2719:

The underlying legislative purpose behind the statute stated the need to expeditiously conclude criminal proceedings and recognized the use of dilatory tactics by those sentenced to death to "thwart their sentences." The statute's purpose is to "avoid such abuses of legal process by requiring that all collateral claims for relief . . . be consolidated in one proceeding. . ." We hold that the legislature's determination that it was necessary to reduce the interminable delay in capital cases is a rational basis for the imposition of the 42-day time limit set for I.C. § 19-2719.

The legislature has identified the problem and attempted to remedy it with a statutory scheme that is rationally related to the legitimate legislative purpose of expediting constitutionally imposed sentences.

The United States Supreme Court has specifically approved requiring a criminal defendant to present all of his collateral claims in a single post-conviction proceeding. In Murch v. Mottram, 409 U.S. 41 (1972), the Court, discussing federal habeas corpus proceedings which prohibit piecemeal litigation by requiring that all claims be brought in a single petition for a writ of habeas corpus, explained the respective states can employ a similar procedure for post-conviction relief procedures. The Court concluded:

There can be no doubt that States may likewise provide, as Maine has done, that a prisoner seeking post-conviction relief must assert all known constitutional claims in a single proceeding. Indeed, the Court of Appeals agreed that the Maine statutory scheme was an "orderly procedure of the state courts," as that term is used in Fay v. Noia, [372 U.S. 391, 438, 83 S. Ct. 822, 849, 9 L. Ed. 2d 837 (1963)]. No prisoner has a right either under the Federal Constitution or under 28 U.S.C. § 2241 to insist upon piecemeal collateral attack on a presumptively valid criminal conviction in the face of such a statutory provision.

### Id. at 45-46.

Idaho Code § 19-2719 also has a great deal of interplay with federal habeas law. The ability of a state to ensure its judgments carry a measure of finality rather than being subject to repetitive federal attack depends in substantial measure on the regular and consistent enforcement of state procedural rules and bars. Addressing the interplay between state procedural bars and federal review, in <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 486 U.S. 578, 587 (1988), the Supreme Court refused to honor a state procedural bar, explaining:

[W]e consider whether that bar provides an adequate and independent state ground for the refusal to vacate petitioner's sentence. "[W]e have consistently held that the question of when and how defaults in compliance with state procedural rules can preclude our consideration of a federal question is itself a federal question." *Henry v. Mississippi*, 379 U.S. 443, 447, [85 S. Ct. 564, 567, 13 L. Ed. 2d 408] (1965). "[A] state

procedural ground is not 'adequate' unless the procedural rule is 'strictly or regularly followed.' Barr v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 146, 149, [84 S. Ct. 1734, 1736, 12 L. Ed. 2d 766] (1964)." Hathorn v. Lovorn, 457 U.S. 255, 262-263, 102 S. Ct. 2421, 2426-2427, 72 L. Ed. 2d 824 (1982); see Henry v. Mississippi, 379 U.S. at 447-448, 85 S. Ct. at 567-568. We find no evidence that the procedural bar relied on by the Mississippi Supreme Court here has been consistently or regularly applied. Rather, the weight of Mississippi law is to the contrary.

The Idaho Supreme Court has historically followed the requirements of I.C. § 19-2719, strictly and regularly dismissing successive capital post-conviction relief claims because of petitioners' failure to meet the narrow exception of I.C. § 19-2719(5). See Creech v. State, 137 Idaho 573, 51 P.3d 387 (2002); Porter v. State, 136 Idaho 257, 32 P.3d 151 (2001); Row v. State, 135 Idaho 573, 21 P.3d 895 (2001); Rhoades v. State, 135 Idaho 299, 17 P.3d 243 (2000); Paradis v. State, 128 Idaho 223, 912 P.2d 110 (1996); Pizzuto v. State, 127 Idaho 469, 903 P.2d 58 (1995); Lankford v. State, 127 Idaho 100, 897 P.2d 991 (1995); Paz v. State, 123 Idaho 758, 852 P.2d 1355 (1993); Fetterly v. State, 121 Idaho 417, 825 P.2d 1073 (1991). The Court has also historically followed the requirements of I.C. § 19-2719, strictly and regularly affirming the district courts' dismissal of successive capital post-conviction claims because of petitioners' failure to meet the narrow exceptions of I.C. § 19-2719(5), including the pleading requirements of I.C. §§ 19-2719(5)(a) and (b). See Fields v. State, 135 Idaho 286, 17 P.3d 230 (2000); Pizzuto v. State, 134 Idaho 793, 10 P.3d 742 (2000); Sivak v. State, 134 Idaho 641, 8 P.3d 636 (2000); McKinney v. State, 133 Idaho 695, 992 P.2d 144 (1999).

2. Fields' Appeal Must Be Dismissed Because The Claims In His Successive Petition Do Not Fall Within The Exception Contained In I.C. § 19-2719(5)

As detailed above, capital defendants are provided only one opportunity to raise all factual and legal challenges to their convictions and sentences, which must be filed within forty-two days after entry of judgment. Rhoades, 120 Idaho at 806. The only exception is for those claims which were not known and reasonably could not have been known within the time frame allowed by the statute. Id.

Fields failed to raise the issue regarding juries finding statutory aggravators in his initial direct and post-conviction appeal. Nevertheless, the claim clearly was known or reasonably could have been known at the time Fields filed his initial post-conviction case. In Hoffman v. State, 142 Idaho 27, 30, 121 P.3d 958 (2005), the petitioner previously raised the claim of jury participation in a capital sentencing in his initial consolidated appeal. Therefore, the claim in his successive petition was "clearly known and asserted in prior proceedings." Id. As explained in Hairston, 144 Idaho at 58, this Court has dismissed Ring claims in successive post-conviction petitions because "the claims do not fall within the exceptions of I.C. § 19-2719 and are therefore barred." Fields' Ring claim fails to meet the only exception in I.C. § 19-2719(5) that permits the filing of claims in a successive petition. Therefore, unless this Court overrules Hoffman and Hairston, Fields' appeal must be dismissed.

Sivak v. State, 134 Idaho 641, 8 P.3d 636 (2000), does not salvage Fields' claim. In Sivak, the state asserted a prosecutorial misconduct claim was procedurally barred under I.C. § 19-2719(5) because "the identical issue" had been previously raised before the court. <u>Id.</u> at 642. Rejecting the state's argument, the court explained:

We reject the State's theory that Sivak has waived this claim for relief merely because he raised the issue in his first post-conviction petition. As Sivak concedes, this petition presents not a new claim but new evidence supporting an old claim. Applying this rule as the State requests would result in Idaho courts being unable to entertain evidence of actual innocence in successive post-conviction petitions, even where the evidence was clearly material or had been suppressed by prosecutorial misconduct. We must be vigilant against imposing a rule of law that will work injustice in the name of judicial efficiency.

Id.

Sivak was premised upon the presentation of additional evidence supporting an old claim, not a new rule of law from the Supreme Court. The court was concerned that a rule preventing the presentation of additional or new evidence supporting an old claim could prevent the Court from addressing claims of actual innocence. However, a new rule of law does not raise concerns of actual innocence, but merely provides a mechanism for death sentenced murderers, who have been legally and constitutionally convicted and sentenced based upon then existing law, to skirt their convictions or death sentences based upon a new technicality which the original courts never envisioned; it does not involve actual innocence.

Fields contends this Court should apply the three-prong Linkletter test for determining whether Ring is retroactive in cases on collateral review in Idaho. (Appellant's brief, pp.10-24.) Contrary to Fields' contention that this Court has "consistently employed precedent requiring the use of a three-factor test to settle questions of retroactivity" (Appellant's brief, p.10), and that, "[u]ntil Danforth, the sole exception to this Court's use of the three-factor test to determine a new decision's retroactive effect was where a rule required by the federal constitution announced in a United States Supreme Court decision was at issue" (Appellant's brief, p.12), this Court has not consistently applied the three-prong Linkletter test and has never applied the three-prong test in capital cases. Rather, this Court has applied I.C. § 19-2719 to address whether Idaho law permits the retroactive application of new rules of law raised in successive post-conviction petitions.

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